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The Secretary General of the League of Red Cross Societies, W. Rappard, to the US Chief 

Deputy at the Paris Peace Conference, E. M. House1

 
	 Geneva, June 24th, 1920 
Dear Colonel House,

Your letter of June 20th 2 written on board the Lapland, has just reached me and 
I hasten to reply. As you do not mention any addresses, I take it for granted that I 
may get in touch with you, thanks to the kindness of the American Embassy.

I am deeply grateful to you for the continued interest you are good enough to 
show in the question of the seat of the League of Nations. We have naturally all 
shared your concern about the movement for substituting Brussels or some other 
place for Geneva, but I have the impression that the most critical moment in the 
discussion is now over. This is, briefly stated, the situation as I see it:

The Belgians have naturally not been able to get over their disappointment, but 
on the whole I have reason to believe that the real and most effective influences 
that are still working against Geneva emanate from Paris rather than from Brus-
sels. The French Government has repeatedly assured ours that it did not intend to 
suggest a change in the provisions of the Covenant, but our mutual experiences 
in Paris have made us very cautious in this respect. I think, therefore, that we will 
always have to count on the hidden but none the less very persistent opposition 
of France.

The Italian Government seems sincerely favorable to Geneva, which the gen-
eral opposition to France and geographical considerations combine in making en-
tirely plausible. As for the other Governments, I believe that they view the matter 
with comparative indifference. Our friend, Lord Robert Cecil is more convinced 
than ever that Geneva should be the seat of the League. In fact he told me a fort-
night ago, that, in view of all the reasons which seemed to favor Geneva a year 
ago, he thought that today the matter should not even be raised in as much as it 
would imply something like a «breach of faith» towards the Swiss people who 
had devoted on the assumption that they would have the seat of the League of 
Nations. As you know however, Cecil is no longer a member of the Government 
and is in fact perhaps its most dangerous foe. From all I can gather, Balfour is 
[mildly] in favor of Geneva, but does not seem ready to fight for it if a serious con-
flict should arise over the question. As for the Prime Minister, I do not believe that 
he has ever expressed an opinion on the question.

1	 Letter (copy): CH-BAR#E2200.40-05#1000/1632#4* (I.C.1.b), DDS, vol. 7-II, doc. 358, 
dodis.ch/44569, annexe.
2	 Letter from E. M. House to W. Rappard, 20 June 1920, dodis.ch/54144. Cf. also DDS, vol. 7-II, 
doc. 358, dodis.ch/44569.
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In the Secretariat of the League of Nations, the opinions are very much divided. 
The majority of the directors favor Geneva. The small but very influential group 
of Frenchmen however who surround Monnet, are extremely active in favor of 
Brussels. Their alleged reasons are the following:

1. Since the withdrawal of the United States, the real political basis of the League 
of Nations is in London and in Paris. In as much as neither of these capitals can 
be the permanent seat of the League, Brussels being situated on the summit of the 
triangle of which the line London-Paris is the base, would be the most convenient 
stop. As all the Governments are but too inclined to forget the League of Nations 
altogether, it is well to make it as convenient for them as possible to confer with its 
officials. Therefore, it is in the interest of the League to settle there where meetings 
can most easily be arranged.

2. The League of Nations must, at any cost, avoid losing touch with the Gov-
ernments, Brussels, being a capital and having several rather important embassies 
and legations, is more favorable than Geneva in the matter of official communi-
cation.

These are the two main reasons put forward very frankly by Monnet, Mantoux 
and Comert of the Secretariat. I have no cause to doubt their sincerity, but I be-
lieve that, more or less unconsciously perhaps, these gentlemen are defending the 
point of view of their Government by reasons which are not the true ones. I am 
personally convinced that Monsieur Léon Bourgeois, in spite of all polite assur-
ances, is behind the French delegation of the Secretariat.

As for Sir Eric Drummond, I have every reason to believe that he really wishes 
to come to Geneva. However, he is very strongly under the influence of the French 
and particularly of Monnet who rather terrorizes him by repeating that the Sec-
retariat would be quite lost of sight if it decided to settle in the remote spot at the 
end of the Lake of Geneva. Drummond, as you know, is extremely cautious and 
desirous of avoiding any conflict. He told me recently that he was but awaiting 
the decision of the Assembly to move to Geneva. He has not wished to come be-
fore as he did not feel assured of the support of the Council and as he is concerned 
over the financial support which the Governments are very slow in lending the 
Secretariat. As far as I can judge, a vote taken at present in the Assembly would 
strongly favor Geneva and I am therefore not over anxious about the final out-
come.

It is obvious that the Swiss and the Geneva Governments will do all in their 
power to facilitate the moving of the seat to Geneva. In as much as they were 
assured, that the coming of the League would entail no financial consequences 
for them and as public opinion in Switzerland has rather been brought to be-
lieve so in the course of the very heated popular campaign, the authorities are 
obviously anxious to avoid making any positive financial offer unless and until it 
should become clear that it was absolutely necessary in order to attract the seat to 
Geneva.

Thanking you again very warmly for your letter and hoping to have the great 
privilege of seeing you soon here in Geneva or at any other place that might better 
suit your convenience, I am, dear Colonel House, yours very sincerely, Wm. R. 
Rappard, Secretary General.

dodis.ch/54145dodis.ch/54145

http://dodis.ch/54145


111 23
 
 
 
 
 

dodis.ch/44616
 
Le Chef du Département de l’économie publique, E. Schulthess, au Directeur du Bureau 

International du Travail, A. Thomas1

 
Personnelle	 Berne, 23 septembre 1920

 
J’ai bien reçu votre lettre du 21 septembre2. Je vous avoue que son contenu m’a 
quelque peu surpris. Jamais je n’ai fait mystère de mon attitude vis-à-vis des 
conventions de Washington. C’est ainsi que, dès le début, j’ai déclaré aux repré-
sentants des socialistes suisses qu’à mon vif regret la première convention ren-
contrerait difficilement l’approbation de la Suisse, pour les motifs que je vous ai 
déjà exposés. Les efforts tentés en vue d’arriver à un examen du projet en seconde 
lecture, examen à l’occasion duquel on aurait pu éliminer certaines aspérités don-
nant particulièrement lieu à des difficultés, ont échoué. La possibilité de modi-
fications futures auxquelles vous faites allusion ne sera pas de nature à dissiper 
les craintes qui se manifestent au Conseil fédéral, au Parlement et dans le peuple 
suisse.

Ainsi que j’ai eu l’occasion de vous le déclarer après la conférence tenue à Zu-
rich les 13 et 14 septembre avec les représentants des associations patronales et 
ouvrières, je proposerai au Conseil fédéral l’adhésion à tous les projets de conven-
tion discutés lors de cette réunion, à l’exception de celui concernant l’emploi des 
femmes avant et après l’accouchement. Sans pouvoir, en ce moment, accepter tel 
quel le texte de ce projet, nous nous efforcerons d’en réaliser l’idée générale. La 
conférence de Zurich a fait l’objet d’une brève communication aux journaux; je 
vous en adresse une copie sous ce pli.

Lorsqu’au cours de l’entretien avec M. Millerand3, l’on vint à parler de la légis-
lation internationale du travail, je considérai comme un devoir de politesse de lui 
signaler, attendu qu’il a joué un rôle si éminent dans ce domaine et que j’ai eu l’oc-
casion de collaborer avec lui4, les grandes difficultés auxquelles se heurte la Suisse 
pour ériger en loi nationale le projet de convention, tel qu’il a été adopté, relatif à 
la journée de huit heures et à la semaine de quarante-huit heures. Je n’ai nullement 
sollicité l’appui moral de M. Millerand, mais la conversation s’étant portée sur le 
droit international du travail, il n’eût pas été compréhensible que mes collègues et 
moi passassions complètement sous silence l’attitude de la Suisse.

Je n’ai relaté à aucun journaliste cette partie de la conversation. Aucune note 
officielle, ni officieuse, n’a paru à ce sujet. Les renseignements relatifs à l’entretien 

1	 Lettre (copie): CH-BAR#J1.6#1000/1355#260* (2), DDS, vol. 2, doc. 405, dodis.ch/44616.
2	 DDS, vol. 7-II, doc. 403, dodis.ch/44614.
3	 Cf. DDS, vol. 7-II, doc. 401, dodis.ch/44612.
4	 Cf. DDS, vol. 7-I, doc. 32, dodis.ch/43777; doc. 43, dodis.ch/43788 et doc. 84, dodis.ch/43829.
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dont il s’agit ont été donnés par un article de journal, qui repose sur des indiscré-
tions; vous savez qu’il n’est pas facile de les empêcher.

Vous pouvez être certain que, comme par le passé, je ferai tout ce qui dépend 
de moi pour promouvoir la législation sociale sur le terrain national et interna-
tional, malgré les sérieuses difficultés que je rencontre. Mais vous comprendrez 
certainement que le Gouvernement suisse, comme celui de tout autre pays, doit 
se ménager la faculté de faire des réserves vis-à-vis des projets qui lui sont soumis 
et de ne pas tenir secrète son attitude.

Comme vous, ce n’est pas sans inquiétude que je vois arriver la votation popu-
laire du 31 octobre5. Si vous considérez que même en cas d’adoption de la loi sur 
la durée du travail dans les entreprises de transport, la première convention de 
Washington en nécessiterait immédiatement la révision dans le sens d’une aggra-
vation, vous conviendrez que la décision de la Suisse n’est pas facile.

Je vous parle, moi aussi, à titre purement personnel et en toute franchise. Je 
désire sincèrement et de tout cœur pouvoir travailler avec vous en parfaite har-
monie. Un entretien prochain permettra sans doute de dissiper les malentendus.

Dans cette attente, je reste, cher Monsieur, très cordialement à vous.

5	 Pour les résultats de la votation populaire sur la loi fédérale concernant la durée du travail dans l’exploi-
tation des chemins de fer et autres entreprises de transport et de communications, cf. FF 1920, V, pp. 161s.
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